D.A. 3-8-91

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

By\_

DIANE V. BEDELL,

:

Petitioner,

Case No.: 75,894

ROBERT L. BEDELL,

v.

:

Respondent.

### **INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

FRATES BIENSTOCK & SHEEHE

Suite 3160 200 Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131-2367 (305) 358-7447

By: James C. Cunningham, Jr. Philip J. Kantor

and

MARGUERITE H. DAVIS

Florida Bar No. 136563 Katz, Kutter, Haigler, Alderman, Davis, Marks and Rutledge, P.A. Post Office Box 1877 Tallahassee, Florida 32302-1877 (904) 224-9634

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

# **

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 28, 1975, the trial court entered a Final Judgment dissolving the marriage of the parties (R. at 14), which incorporated a settlement Agreement previously entered into by the parties on July 15, 1975. (R. at 8-12).

On July 12, 1986, pursuant to § 61.14(1) Florida Statutes (1985), Diane V. Bedell ("Mrs. Bedell" or "the former wife") timely filed a Supplemental Petition for Modification of Alimony. (R. at 22-25). The response of Robert L. Bedell ("the former husband" or "Dr. Bedell") to the supplemental petition was two-fold: He filed an Answer and Counter-Petition for Modification of Final Judgment seeking to terminate his responsibility to his former wife for permanent periodic alimony (R. at 38-41), and he moved the court to strike several paragraphs of the supplemental petition because they were "irrelevant to a cause of action for modification and are improper." (R. at 45-46).

On August 18, 1986, without permitting Mrs. Bedell the opportunity to respond to Dr. Bedell's motion to strike and "without formal hearing," the trial court granted the former husband's motion. (R. at 50). Mrs. Bedell moved for reconsideration of the court's order granting Dr. Bedell's motion to strike (R. at 62-64), and on September 23, 1986, the court held a hearing on the former wife's motion. In keeping with its earlier decision, the court denied Mrs. Bedell's motion. (R. at 78).

Both parties served interrogatories and requests for production of documents upon the other. (R. at 17-20, 21, 71 and 72-74). However, while the former wife fully cooperated by producing her records and documents and answering the former husband's interrogatories (R. at 168-170), Dr. Bedell objected to the discovery served upon him and moved for a protective order excusing him from responding on the ground that "he has sufficient financial ability to discharge any reasonable fiscal obligation imposed by the Court as alimony. Therefore, the Wife's [discovery] is not reasonably calculated to lead to discoverable and admissible evidence." (R. at 51 and 52). In response, the former wife moved to compel answers to the interrogatories and production of documents and filed a supporting memorandum of law. (R. at 68). After hearing on October 1, 1986, the court denied Mrs. Bedell's motion and granted the former husband's motion for a protective order. (R. at 162 and 165).

On December 11, 1986, a non-jury trial was held before the Honorable Richard S. Fuller. The court heard the testimony of seven witnesses and received into evidence the depositions of three others. In addition, numerous documents setting forth Mrs. Bedell's financial situation were admitted into evidence.

On December 30, 1986, the court rendered a Final Judgment on Petition for Modification. (R. at 308; Appendix, p. 8), which is essentially identical to Dr. Bedell's proposed final judgment. (R. at 287). The Final Judgment denied both petitions for modification (R. at 313) and Mrs. Bedell's Motion for Reimbursement of Payment of Children's College Education. (R. at 314). The trial court denied Mrs. Bedell's petition because it found that she "failed to demonstrate that she has been detrimentally effected by this rise in the cost of living or that such a rise has caused an increase in her need," (R. at 312); that one reason for the requested modification was justified (R. at 312-313); and that she "made no serious effort whatsoever to contribute to her own support" even though she "is fully capable of contributing to her self-support if she chose to do so." (R. at 309). The court, though, gave no reason at all for its denial of Dr. Bedell's petition. Finally, the court

denied Mrs. Bedell's motion for reimbursement because it found "that the Husband's obligation to pay tuition for the year in question was met by his payment to the therapy school . . . . " (R. at 311).

Mrs. Bedell appealed the trial court's judgment to the Third District Court of Appeal. Because of an internal conflict of decisions, the Third District considered the appeal *en banc* pursuant to Rules 9.331(a) and (b), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. Mrs. Bedell argued that she was entitled to an increase in alimony as a matter of law under § 61.14, Florida Statutes (1985), due to the stipulated substantial betterment of her former husband's financial circumstances since entry of the final judgment in 1975. Further, Mrs. Bedell contended that the more than 50% decrease in the purchasing power of her \$415.00 per month alimony award as a result of inflation, along with other causes, had caused her needs to no longer be met by the original award and entitled her as a matter of law to an increase in alimony.

The district court acknowledged that § 61.14(1), Florida Statutes (1985), permits a spouse who is the recipient of an alimony award in a final judgment of marriage dissolution incorporating a prior settlement agreement to apply to the circuit court for a judgment increasing the amount of alimony when the circumstances or the financial ability of *either* party has changed. It further recognized that the statute invests jurisdiction in the trial court to make orders as equity requires with due regard to the changed circumstances or the financial ability of the parties increasing or confirming the amount of alimony provided for in the agreement or order. But the district court held that the trial court is not required to grant a motion for modification of alimony when a spouse who is the recipient of alimony

is able to demonstrate that the financial condition of the spouse paying the alimony has substantially improved and where the dollar value of her alimony has substantially decreased due to inflation.

The district court expressly held that where the financial needs of the recipient spouse have not substantially increased since the final judgment, the trial court may deny a motion to increase the alimony despite the fact that the paying spouse's income has substantially increased and despite the fact that inflation has cut the recipient spouse's real income in half. The district court held that proof of a rise in the cost of living was not sufficient to justify an increase in alimony for Mrs. Bedell absent a demonstration that she had personally been detrimentally affected by such inflation.

The Third District expressly receded from its decision in *Sherman v. Sherman*, 279 So.2d 887 (Fla. 3d DCA), *cert. dism.*, 282 So.2d 877 (Fla. 1973), in which case the Third District had previously affirmed an increase in periodic alimony for a former wife where the only demonstrated change in circumstances was a substantial increase in the earnings of her former husband.

After denial of her motion to certify conflict of its decision with decisions of the Florida Supreme Court or, alternatively, to certify its decision as passing upon issues of great public importance, Mrs. Bedell sought review in this Court on the basis that the decision of the Third District expressly and directly conflicts with the following decisions of this Court and the Second and Fourth Districts on the same question of law: *McArthur v. McArthur*, 95 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1957); *Lenton v. Lenton*, 370 So.2d 30 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979); *Rogers v. Rogers*, 229 So.2d 618 (Fla. 2d DCA 1969); *Terry v. Terry*, 126 So.2d 890 (Fla. 2d DCA), *cert.* 

den., 133 So.2d 321 (Fla. 1961); England v. England, 520 So.2d 699 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988); Weinstein v. Weinstein, 447 So.2d 309 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984); Turner v. Turner, 383 So.2d 700 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980; and Pope v. Pope, 342 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977). This Court noted probable jurisdiction.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On July 28, 1975, the trial court entered a Final judgment of Dissolution of Marriage dissolving the marriage existing between Mrs. Bedell and Dr. Bedell, and incorporating their settlement Agreement, which, *inter alia*, awarded Mrs. Bedell \$415.00 permanent periodic alimony and \$500.00 per month child support. (R. at 8).

Eleven years later, on July 16, 1986, this modification of alimony proceeding was initiated by the Mrs. Bedell for the purpose of seeking an increase in permanent monthly alimony from Dr. Bedell. Mrs. Bedell based her request for modification of alimony on the grounds that the alimony awarded to her was inadequate both at the time of the parties' Agreement and currently, that there has been a favorable and significant change of circumstances in Dr. Bedell's financial condition, that inflation has adversely affected Mrs. Bedell's standard of living, and that her needs had increased since the original judgment.

During the final hearing on the modification petition, the mostly-uncontroverted testimony by Mrs. Bedell revealed the following facts. Mrs. Bedell dropped out of college in order to marry her former husband. (T. at 46). The parties had two sons soon after they were married. (T. at 48). During this period of time, Mrs. Bedell was a housewife and a mother and was not employed during the marriage or at the time of the divorce. (T. at 98).

During their marriage, the former wife and her family assisted Dr. Bedell with his expenses for attending medical school and with other significant family expenses. (T. at 47).

After being separated for a few years, the parties in 1975 entered into an Agreement "settling their respective property and . . . [providing] for support provisions for the Wife and the issue of the marriage." (R. at 8). Dr. Bedell agreed to pay Mrs. Bedell permanent periodic alimony; however, there is no clause in the Agreement requiring Mrs. Bedell to obtain employment to subsidize the alimony award. The former husband also agreed to pay to the Wife \$250.00 per month as support for each child. (R. at 8). The alimony award by itself was insufficient to meet Mrs. Bedell's needs in 1975; only with the \$500.00 per month child support payment was Mrs. Bedell able to meet her monthly expenses even in 1975. (T. at 40-41). Additionally, Dr. Bedell agreed to be responsible for the costs of the children's college education. (R. at 10). As part of the settlement, Dr. Bedell delivered to Mrs. Bedell the deed to the townhouse (with an existing mortgage) in which she continues to reside. (R. at 9).

The Agreement represented that each party "had independent legal advice by counsel of his or her own selection" and had "made a full disclosure to the other of his or her current financial condition." (R. at 11). However, Mrs. Bedell testified that she had no input into the determination of the alimony amount, that Dr. Bedell made no financial disclosure to her at the time of entering into the Agreement, and that she was unaware of what he was earning or what property he held. (T. at 41-43). Dr. Bedell did not dispute Mrs. Bedell's testimony concerning these items. She stated that she signed the Agreement containing such a financial disclosure representation because she thought it "meant that we

had discussed what I was going to be getting . . . . " (T. at 44). Mrs. Bedell only knew that Dr. Bedell, at the time of the divorce, had opened his first medical office and was in private practice. (T. at 42). Dr. Bedell told his former wife prior to the divorce that he could not afford to pay her more than the \$415.00 per month alimony that he was offering and that she should accept that amount. (T. at 88).

Additionally, Mrs. Bedell testified that she did *not* have independent legal advice because the attorney who explained the Agreement to her was a member of the law firm which represented her former husband. (T. at 44). She met with this attorney on one occasion as a result of a "a very strong recommendation" made by Dr. Bedell, and she took his advice because she "trusted him." (T. at 45). There was also testimony that Dr. Bedell threatened Mrs. Bedell in order to accept the settlement. (T. at 46). Her testimony is confirmed by reviewing the transcript of the original final hearing held before Judge Fuller on July 28, 1975, when Mrs. Bedell, in response to Judge Fuller's question of her if she "in fact used counsel," stated she had not. (T. at 4). Moreover, Dr. Bedell stated at the final hearing that:

We had a lawyer explain — what we did was, we agreed to put into legal terms. Diane went down and had some of the other lawyers review it.

(T. at 6). These "other lawyers" were, in fact, one partner in the firm representing Dr. Bedell. Thus, it is clear that Mrs. Bedell had no legal representation during the original dissolution of marriage proceedings.

Additionally, the townhouse which Mrs. Bedell received in the settlement was worth less than what Dr. Bedell represented at the time of the settlement. In the Agreement, it

is represented that the mortgage upon the realty was in the amount of \$36,700.00. (R. at 9). However, Mrs. Bedell later discovered that Dr. Bedell had taken an additional loan out on the equity which he had failed to disclose to her. (T. at 61). The mortgage amount was more than the value of the townhouse she was given. (T. at 61). As a result of Dr. Bedell's nondisclosure, Mrs. Bedell's mortgage payments from 1975 to date have done little more than reduce the principal balance of the mortgage to the level to which she was told it was in 1975. Finally, when the parties' oldest son, David, first attended college at St. Leo College, his father refused to pay, (T. at 244-245), contrary to the Agreement. In order that he could attend the school, his grandmother, Mrs. Bedell's mother, advanced the necessary funds (T. at 164) which amount to over \$6,500.00. (T. at 165). As a result, Mrs. Bedell moved for reimbursement of that money. (R. at 380).

While having custody of her two sons, Mrs. Bedell attempted to earn more income by tie-dying fabric which she made into pillows and by modeling on a part-time basis. (T. at 99). Two years after the divorce, Mrs. Bedell moved to New York to study at the Pratt Institute. (T. at 89). Although, Mrs. Bedell only officially took three credits worth of classes at Pratt Institute, she did audit other classes. (T. at 104-105). Mrs. Bedell was unable to register for more classes towards receiving her degree, which she was also unable to obtain, because she could not afford it. (T. at 49). She asked her former husband to assist her in obtaining her degree, but he refused to aid her in any way. (T. at 89-90).

When Mrs. Bedell moved to New York to attend Pratt Institute, Dr. Bedell took custody of the children upon agreement of the parties (T. at 101-102), and thus discontinued paying the \$500.00 per month to his former wife for child support. Since the divorce, Mrs.

Bedell has additionally attempted to subsidize the \$415.00 monthly alimony payments by doing calligraphy for Air France (T. at 103), and others and by working as a salesperson at Burdines (T. at 110) and at a health spa. (T. at 113). However, these attempts to subsidize her income did not raise her income sufficiently to meet her monthly expenses. Thus, soon after the divorce, Mrs. Bedell's mother began loaning her a substantial amount of money each year in order to survive.

In response to Mrs. Bedell's supplemental petition, Dr. Bedell filed an answer, a counter-petition for modification seeking to terminate his responsibility to pay his former wife alimony and a motion to strike several paragraphs of the supplemental petition with a supporting memorandum of law. The trial court, without a hearing, granted the former husband's motion to strike. Although the court permitted the former wife to argue against the motion to strike on rehearing, the court merely upheld its earlier decision.

Both parties sought extensive discovery, serving upon the other requests to produce and interrogatories. While Mrs. Bedell cooperated fully and responded to the discovery requests, Dr. Bedell moved for and was granted a protective order over Mrs. Bedell's motion to compel. Pursuant to the protective order which Dr. Bedell obtained, he did not produce any financial affidavit.

On December 11, 1986, the Final Hearing was held before the Honorable Richard S. Fuller. The trial court was called upon to determine if either party had established the "fundamental prerequisite" for modification of an alimony agreement or judgment pursuant to § 61.14(1), Florida Statutes, which is "a showing of substantial change of circumstances, including financial circumstances of one or both parties." *Taplin v. Taplin*, 341 So.2d 1064

(Fla. 3d DCA 1977). In order to accomplish this goal, the court heard testimony from Mrs. Bedell, an accountant and an economist retained by her, her mother, an accountant retained by Dr. Bedell and others. The court reviewed pre-trial memoranda and proposed final judgments submitted by both parties.

As a result of the protective order obtained by Dr. Bedell, most of the hearing dealt with Mrs. Bedell's financial situation. Her financial affidavit and income tax returns reveal that she receives as monthly income \$415.00 from alimony and \$87.00 from calligraphy and other art-related jobs, totalling \$6,020.00 per year. Such a minimal yearly income is very near the poverty level as defined by the Department of Commerce. (T. at 22). However, Dr. Bedell's accountant, Carl Margeneau, testified that with the loans from her mother Mrs. Bedell had a total "income" of approximately \$18,500.00 per year for the years 1981 through 1986 (T. at 199-200), and in its Final Judgment the court accepted this conclusory testimony. (R. at 312). Mr. Margeneau further testified that in 1981, for instance, Mrs. Bedell's tax returns, bank statements and other financial records show that she received \$4,980.00 from alimony, \$850.00 from unidentified sources (presumably art-related jobs) and \$14,591.00 in contributions from her mother (T. at 227), equalling \$20,421.00 in "income." Thus, Mr. Margeneau's analysis reveals that his definition of "income" is broader than the legal

Clearly, this is not "income." In fact, the testimony from Mrs. Bedell, Mrs. Oleck (Mrs. Bedell's mother), and Carl Margeneau concerned "contributions" received by Mrs. Bedell from her mother. Both Mrs. Bedell and Mrs. Oleck calculated that Mrs. Oleck loaned approximately \$65,000.00 to her daughter from 1977 to present, an average of about \$6,500.00 per year. (T. at 50 and 159). However, Mr. Margeneau, after analyzing both Mrs. Bedell's records and records voluntarily produced by Mrs. Oleck, determined that Mrs. Oleck has loaned Appellant "closer to a little bit over 9 thousand dollars a year for a six year period." (T. at 216-217).

definition, which is "the return in money from one's business, labor, or capital invested; gains, profits or private revenue." *Black's Law Dictionary* 906 (4th ed. 1968). The definition which Mr. Margeneau appears to be utilizing in his analysis is simply money coming into Mrs. Bedell's bank account from any source, including loans.

Mrs. Bedell quite frankly testified that she is actually currently spending "about \$20,000.00" per year. (T. at 52). This amount for actual annual expenditure was confirmed by Dr. Bedell's accountant, who testified that Mrs. Bedell's average annual expenditure for the years 1981 through 1986 was \$19,392.00. (T. at 199). Further, Mr. Margeneau stated that in order to provide Mrs. Bedell with "the same standard of living as presently indicated in the records" which he reviewed, she would need an annual gross income equalling between \$23,000.00 and \$25,000.00. (T. at 203).

Mrs. Bedell testified at length concerning the reasons for the disparity between the amount of money she is currently spending and the amount listed on her financial affidavit. She first explained that she does not spend the \$55,000.00 listed in her financial affidavit because she simply does not have that kind of money (T. at 52). The amount in the financial affidavit largely represents her anticipated needs. (T. at 52). Specifically, Mrs. Bedell testified that the expenditures amounting to \$35,000.00 (\$55,000.00 as listed in the financial affidavit minus \$20,000.00 actually expended) include monthly amounts of \$119.00 for medical insurance coverage (T. at 55), additional money for drugs and medications (T. at 57), for electricity to be able to use her dryer and air conditioner on a more frequent basis (T. at 60), for exterminator service (T. at 62), for food and grocery items (T. at 75),

cleaning supplies and laundry (T. at 75), hygienic supplies (T. at 76), clothing and shoes (T. at 76) and entertainment and vacation. (T. at 77).

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