0.A. 2-8-9b 047

Supreme Court Case No. 75,894 DCA Case No. 87-98 Fla. Bar No. 283975

### In the SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DIANE V. BEDELL, Petitioner,

VS.

ROBERT L. BEDELL, Respondent.



#### ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Law Offices of Greene & Marks, P.A. 100 North Biscayne Boulevard Suite 1100 Miami, Florida 33132 (305) 372-3737 Counsel for Appellant

####

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

If the Wife's contention herein is correct - if an alimony recipient is entitled as a "matter of law" to increased alimony each and every time the paying spouse's income increases, even if the recipient's need has not increased, then there will no longer be any such thing as a "divorce." Instead, former spouses will continue to be required to share their increased income with their ex-spouses without limitation, for all time.

The Wife's position, however, is incorrect and it is incorrect for the very simple reason that all alimony awards are and must be based upon need. A modification is simply a request for additional alimony and, therefore, a modification must also be based upon either increased need or continuing need unmet by the original award.

The Wife, in asserting her position, misreads §61.14, Florida Statutes, and claims that alimony may be increased either upon a change in circumstances or upon increased ability of the payor. In fact, however, the statute is clear in its meaning:

- 1. If the circumstances of the recipient change, due to circumstances beyond the recipient's control, such that the recipient's need increases, an upward modification of alimony is permissible; or,
- 2. If the circumstances of the recipient change such that the recipient's need is decreased, a downward modification of alimony is permissible; or,

- 3. If the financial ability to the payor decreases, a downward modification of alimony is permissible; or,
- 4. If the financial abillity of the payor increases and the need of the recipient was initially unmet or has itself increased, an upward modification of alimony is permissible.

The Wife also seeks to have this Court retry this case and conclude that the trial court's findings of fact, which were affirmed by the District Court of Appeal, en banc, were "erroneous". This Court cannot do so. There is substantial evidence in this record from which the trial court properly concluded that the Wife failed to establish a change in her needs; failed to establish that the increase in the "cost of living" had effected her and failed to establish that she (as opposed to her mother) was owed any money as "reimbursement" for certain college expenses incurred by the parties' oldest child.

#### **ARGUMENT**

١.

THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DID NOT ERR IN HOLDING THAT A WIFE MUST PROVE AN INCREASE IN HER NEED AND NOT JUST AN INCREASE IN HER FORMER SPOUSE'S INCOME BEFORE AN UPWARD MODIFICATION OF ALIMONY MAY BE GRANTED.

A. AN UPWARD MODIFICATION OF ALIMONY CANNOT BE BASED SOLELY UPON AN INCREASE IN THE PAYOR'S ABILITY TO PAY ABSENT EITHER INCREASED NEED ON THE PART OF THE RECIPIENT OR CONTINUING NEED UNMET BY THE ORIGINAL ALIMONY AWARD.

The Wife's first point herein is that an alimony recipient is entitled as a matter of law to increased alimony each and every time the paying spouse's income increases, even if the recipient's need has not increased. Simply stated, under the Wife's view of the law there is no such thing as a divorce - former spouses must continue to share their increased income with their ex-spouse without limitation, for all time.

The Wife derives her concept of the law from the language of §61.14, Florida Statutes, which reads, in pertinent part:

When the parties have entered into, or hereafter enter into, an agreement for payments for, or instead of, support, maintenance, or alimony . . . or when a party is required by court order to make any payments, and the circumstances or the financial ability of either party has changed . . ., either party may apply to the circuit court . . . for an order decreasing or increasing the amount of support, maintenance, or alimony . . .(Emphasis supplied.)

According to the Wife, the "plain meaning" of the foregoing language - the Wife emphasizes the portion reading "and the circumstances or the financial ability of either party has changed" - is that a change in circumstances "of only one of the parties is sufficient to support a modification of alimony."

To the contrary, however, the "plain meaning", when the statute is read in its entirety so as to include not just the language emphasized by the Wife but, further, that the court may enter an order "decreasing or increasing" the amount provided, is that the paying spouse may request a decrease in the event his financial circumstances have changed just as much as the recipient may request an increase if her needs have changed.

In order to fully describe the degree to which the Wife's argument herein is contrary to all established legal principles pertaining to alimony awards (i.e., that an alimony recipient may receive an increase not based upon her need but, rather, solely upon the income of the payor), it is necessary to first review certain general principles applicable to both initial alimony cases and alimony modification cases.

To begin, all alimony awards must be based upon need. There can be no such thing as an alimony award without a need therefor or an alimony award which exceeds the established need of the recipient. An illustrative statement of this rule appears in *Turner* v. *Turner*, 383 So.2d 700 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980):

[T]rue alimony is based upon the needs of one party and the concomitant ability of the other to pay. Absent either factor (not necessarily both) alimony is inappropriate. (Id. at 702).

Second, a modification for the purpose of increasing an alimony award is simply a request for the award of additional alimony. Whatever amount may be awarded, it is still alimony and the same rules apply - the need for such additional alimony must be demonstrated.

Lastly, "need" within the context of alimony is to be defined in accordance with the standard of living established by the parties during their marriage. When the initial award of alimony is made, at the time of the parties' divorce, the standard for determining need is the standard of living established during the marriage and that standard continues to apply to all subsequent requests for increased alimony. The standard never changes - it is always that which was established by the parties during the marriage.

Turning to modification cases specifically, a review of the applicable case law establishes that there are only two factual situations which can arise in which an increase in alimony (an upward modification) would be proper:

1. The needs of the spouse receiving alimony were not met by the initial alimony award made at the time of the dissolution of marriage and continue to be unmet. This situation customarily arises where the spouse receiving alimony had a need for alimony, at

See, e.g., *Johnson v. Johnson*, 386 So.2d 14 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980); *Nicholay v. Nicholay*, 387 So.2d 500 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1980); *O'Neal v. O'Neal*, 410 So.2d 1369 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982). This, of course, is quite different fro the rule applied in modification of child support cases. Children should be and are entitled to share in the future success of their parents irrespective of the standard of living of the parents at the time of divorce. Unlike a child, however, a spouse's right to share in the other spouse's success ends upon the termination of the marriage, as that is when the "marital partnership" ends.

the time of divorce, in an amount greater than the payor-spouse could then provide. Upon an increase in the payor-spouse's financial ability and, of course, the continued existence of the unmet need, the spouse receiving alimony would be entitled to an increase in the amount of the original award to an amount designed to meet the need established by the standard of living during the marriage.<sup>2</sup>

2. The original alimony award met the needs of the recipient-spouse as established by the standard of living during the marriage but, due to a change in circumstances beyond the control of the recipient-spouse, the amount originally awarded no longer meets those needs. This situation customarily arises where an increase in the cost of living causes an amount which was once sufficient to become insufficient to meet the needs of the recipient, or where the alimony recipient has suffered a loss of employment or an illness or some other significant change has occurred resulting in a loss of income or other such inability to meet his or her needs. In this type of case, an increase in the ability of the payor-spouse will justify an increase in the alimony award so as to re-establish the amount as sufficient to meet the needs of the recipient.

The key points with respect to the foregoing are:

<sup>2</sup> 

An example of this type of case is *Lenton v. Lenton*, 370 So.2d 30 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1979), where the court expressly stated that the wife's needs had not been met by the original alimony award and, therefore, upon a showing of the husband's increased ability to pay, a modification in the amount of alimony awarded to the wife was proper. It is significant to note that the Lenton decision points out that the wife's standard of living upon her alimony award was greatly decreased from that enjoyed during the marriage. Therefore, there can be no question but that the wife in Lenton did establish a need for additional alimony in order to maintain her prior standard of living even if the decision itself does not expressly so state.

First, "need" is defined in accordance with the standard of living established by the parties during their marriage. This is true irrespective of whether the case is one in which need was originally unmet or one in which need was originally met but, due to changes in circumstances, is no longer met by the original award.

Second, in either of the two types of cases, the spouse seeking the increase must establish his or her need. It is not sufficient for the spouse seeking a modification to simply demonstrate an increased ability on the part of the payor without also showing either that his or her need was originally unmet and remains unmet or that his or her need is now unmet by the original award because of circumstances outside of his or her control.

All of the decisions of the Third District Court of Appeal are now consistent with the foregoing principles of law following the rendition of the court's opinion herein in which the Third District receded from *Sherman v. Sherman*, 279 So.2d 887 (Fla. 3rd DCA), cert. dism., 282 So.2d 877 (Fla. 1973), the single aberrant case in the Third District.

In *Sherman*, supra., the Third District, in 1973, had answered the following question in the affirmative:

May periodic alimony be increased upon petition for modification when the only change of circumstances shown is a substantial increase in the earnings of the former husband? (Id. at 888)

Seven years later, in *Powell v. Powell*, 386 So.2d 1214 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980), the Third District held to the contrary, noting, in a footnote:

Of course, an increase in the husband's ability

would not itself justify an upward modification of alimony if the wife's needs are already fully met either by the existing award or otherwise. (ld. at 1216).

Three years after Powell, the Third District rendered its decision in *Frantz v. Frantz*, 453 So.2d 429 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983), and quoted the above language from *Powell* as the basis for affirming the trial court's denial of a requested modification.

Then, in 1985, the Third District rendered its decision in *Bess* v. *Bess*, 471 So.2d 1342 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985), and held:

While the record shows that Mrs. Bess proved her ex-husband's ability to pay additional alimony, we find that there is competent substantial evidence to support a finding that she did not demonstrate her need for increased payments. (Id. at 1343).

Finally, in *Waldman v. Waldman*, 520 So.2d 87 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987), although the Third District made no direct statement with respect to the impermissibility of a modification upon a showing of nothing more than an increased ability to pay, the court nevertheless held that despite evidence of a "doubling" of the husband's salary, the wife was not entitled to increased alimony.

As the foregoing establishes, the law in the Third District is very clear and very consistent and the Third District, in receding from *Sherman*, the one aberrant case in the district, obviously paid heed to Judge Barkdull's 1973 dissent in *Sherman* which the Third District adopted in the instant case:

Following the majority's opinion to a logical conclusion, a former wife receiving periodic alimony could hold her former husband to an increase in alimony upon increased earnings

at any time during the remainder of his life. I don't think the courts should condone such Many of the authorities cited in the majority opinion , which approved an increase in alimony , had an additional element other than the mere increase in earning capacity of the former husband, to wit: a change in circumstances to the detriment of the former And authorities that permit an increase in periodic alimony solely because of the increase in earning capacity of the former husband I would either not follow because they were rendered prior to the modern concepts of divorce law . . . or, if rendered in recent years, I would respectfully decline to follow as not being the proper course that the law should follow at this time. (ld. at 889)

Despite the fact that the law in the Third District is clear and consistent and has been since 1980, the Wife herein suggests that the Third District's decisions are "different and more restrictive" than decisions of this Court or of the Second and Fourth District Courts, citing *McArthur v. McArthur*, 95 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1957); *Lenton v. Lenton*, 370 So.2d 30 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1979) and *England v. England*, 520 So.2d 699 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). The Wife, however, is wrong.

In *McArthur v. McArthur*, *supra*., this Court specifically relied upon and made reference to changes in the alimony recipient's circumstances and conditions:

It seems to us that the changes in circumstances in the financial condition of Mr. McArthur and Mrs. McArthur's condition of health and inability to work constitute sufficient cause to justify an increase in the amount of alimony which she should receive.

The further change in Mr. McArthur's financial

condition as reflected by the amended petition for rehearing might perhaps justify even a greater increase in the sums which she should receive. (ld. at 524)

In view of the foregoing, it is clear that Mrs. McArthur met the second of the two standards for modification of alimony, specifically: the original alimony award met her needs but, due to a change in circumstances beyond her control, the amount originally awarded no longer met her needs.

In *Lenton v. Lenton*, *supra.*, one finds that, again, the decision to modify the wife's alimony was based upon the wife's need.

In *Lenton*, the husband had filed, at the time of the initial divorce action, a fraudulent financial affidavit and, based upon that financial affidavit, the wife had accepted an alimony award far below her actual needs and far below the standard of living of the parties during the marriage. The Second District Court held:

Here, the wife agreed to accept a decrease in her standard of living at the time of dissolution because the husband apparently did not have the means to support her in the same style she had enjoyed during the marriage. However, she should not be held to this agreement when the projection of limited means is not accurate. (Id. at 31).

As the foregoing makes clear, Mrs. Lenton met the first of the two standards of modification, specifically: the needs of the spouse receiving alimony were not met by the initial alimony award made at the time of the dissolution and continued to be unmet.

Thus, reviewing only *Lenton* and *McArthur*, it is impossible to conclude that the decision of the District Court herein is

"different and more restrictive" where the Third District's decision in this case states:

[I]n a petition for modification [seeking increased alimony] the recipient's need [as established by the standard of living maintained during the marriage] is the sine qua non of the determination; unless and until it is established that there has been a substantial increase in need, [the paying spouse's] ability to pay must not be considered. Once that need is established, the question is whether or not [the paying spouse] has the ability to meet that increased need, in whole or in part. To hold otherwise improperly grants the alimony recipient a continuing interest in the former spouse's good fortune.

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